

#### **Working paper**

# The digitalisation of social protection before and since the onset of Covid-19

Opportunities, challenges and lessons

Christina Lowe
June 2022

#### Key messages

The response to Covid-19 accelerated the trend of increasing digitalisation of social protection delivery.

Studies from before and during the pandemic suggest that well-used technology holds potential to enhance provision for some service users, and played a notable role in rapid social protection expansion during Covid-19. It may also help reduce leakage or inclusion errors, lower costs and support improvements in programme design.

However, the evidence also suggests that - unless designed and implemented with careful mitigating measures - digitalisation may in some cases do more harm than good. Key concerns relate to potential risks and challenges of exclusion, protection and privacy violations, 'technosolutionism' and obscured transparency and accountability.

Ultimately, technology is a tool, and its outcomes depend on the needs it is expected to meet, the goals it is deployed to pursue, and the specific ways in which it is designed and implemented. This paper offers eight lessons to help social protection actors capitalise on technology's potential in a risk-sensitive manner.





Readers are encouraged to reproduce material for their own publications, as long as they are not being sold commercially. ODI requests due acknowledgement and a copy of the publication. For online use, we ask readers to link to the original resource on the ODI website. This publication has been funded by the Australian Government through the Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade. The views expressed in this publication are the author's alone and are not necessarily the views of ODI or the Australian Government.

This work is licensed under CC BY-NC-ND 4.o.

How to cite: Lowe, C. (2022) *The digitalisation of social protection before and since the onset of Covid-19: Opportunities, challenges and lessons.* London: ODI (www.odi.org/publications/the-digitalisation-of-social-protection-before-and-since-the-onset-of-covid-19-opportunities-challenges-and-lessons)

## Acknowledgements

My sincere thanks go to Dr. Francesca Bastagli, ODI's Director of Equity and Social Policy, for her invaluable guidance, inputs and project leadership throughout the production of this publication. I am also very grateful to Dr. Anit Mukherjee, Dr. Bidisha Chaudhuri, Jacqui Powell and Lisa Hannigan for their thoughtful review and comments, which greatly strengthened the content. I would also like to thank all the researchers and research participants who contributed to the evidence discussed in this piece. Finally, I express my deep gratitude to Roni Lee, Sherry Dixon and Matthew Foley from ODI for supporting the project management and production, Rory Seaford for his outstanding work designing the infographics, and the Government of Australia's Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade (DFAT) for generously funding this project.

#### About this publication

This publication was produced as part of a wider project on digital technologies and social protection, under the leadership of Dr. Francesca Bastagli and with funding from the Government of Australia's Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade (DFAT).

#### About the author

**Christy Lowe** (ORCID 0000-0001-5733-9548) is a Senior Research Officer in ODI's Equity and Social Policy programme, with a focus on improving social protection provision for marginalised and crisis-affected populations.

## Contents

```
Acknowledgements / i
   Display items / iii
  Introduction / 1
2 Opportunities / 3
   Improved recipient experience / 3
   Improved recipient outcomes / 4
   Reduced leakage and inclusion errors / 5
   Reduced implementation costs / 6
   Better data for designing and refining policies and programmes / 7
3 Risks and challenges / 8
   Entrenched exclusion of the most vulnerable populations / 8
   Data misuse violating the privacy and protection of vulnerable populations / 12
   Mixed evidence on cost-effectiveness given social protection objectives and needs / 13
   Reduced accountability and transparency of public service provision / 15
4 Lessons / 18
   References / 23
```

## Display items

#### Boxes

**Box 1** Mitigation measures to overcome exclusion risks  $\ / \ 11$ 

Box 2 Further guidance / 22

### 1 Introduction

Recent years have seen rapid growth in the use of technology in social protection systems.

While the pace of adoption has varied between countries, the general trend of increasing digitalisation in social protection delivery has been evident across low-, middle- and high-income countries (Barca and Hebbar, 2020; Chirchir and Barca, 2020; Masiero, 2021; Gronbach, 2020; Guven, 2019; Lindert et al., 2020; ISSA, 2019).

For service users, this has entailed a growing prevalence of online or mobile-based channels to register for programmes; bank transfers, mobile money or other electronic mechanisms to make or receive payments; and the use of phone, web or email channels to report grievances or feedback. At the back-end of service delivery, electronic databases for managing social protection caseloads are becoming more advanced (including in their interoperability with other programmes or agencies' databases). Experimentation with more nascent digital approaches is also growing, such as the application of artificial intelligence to eligibility determination or monitoring processes (Barca, 2017; Chirchir and Barca, 2020; Ohlenburg, 2020). Both front- and back-end digitalisation of social protection has been supported by wider digital government trends, notably the boom in digital (often biometric) ID systems. These digital ID systems were established in over 130 countries between 2000 and 2015, and are increasingly being linked with social protection provision, for example to verify people's identity when they access services, or to link current or potential participants' records across different datasets (Gelb and Metz, 2017).

This digitalisation trend has accelerated during the Covid-19 pandemic. Greater use of digital registration approaches was prompted by the widespread need for rapid, socially distanced enrolment into pandemic assistance programmes, including of many households who were previously excluded from the social protection system (Gentilini et al., 2020; IPC-IG, 2021). Social distancing concerns also accelerated the adoption of electronic Government to Person (G2P) payments, including shifts to digital payments where manual payments had previously been the norm; transfers via private providers where routine digital payments had previously been limited to the state bank; and increased reliance on mobile money and e-wallets alongside traditional bank transfers (Gelb and Mukherjee 2020; Merelli 2021; Gronbach, 2020; GSMA, 2021). The design of programming was also digitalised in some cases, from digital public works (in which participants could complete tasks from home using online or mobile platforms) to digital social care support (e.g. the use of remote video and audio support in place of in-person home visits) (Weber, 2020; de Miranda et al., 2021).

These Covid-related adjustments were often facilitated by temporary policy changes to promote rapid and remote financial account opening, reduced or waived financial transaction fees, and more affordable household access to phone and internet networks (Gelb and Mukherjee, 2020; Michaels, 2020; CGAP, 2020; GSMA, 2020a; Berner and Van Hemelryck, 2020).

While many of these temporary regulatory changes have now been lifted, the substantial increase in digital social protection during the pandemic looks set to remain for the long term, with many governments indicating ambitions to further digitalise delivery. Indonesia, for example, has set a goal to achieve universal coverage of its social registry by 2024 and also aspires to fully digitalise its payment mechanisms, while Brazil has expressed an intention to rely more heavily on digital applications and artificial intelligence in its single registry (Aulia and Maliki, 2021; Yamasaki and Rodopoulos, 2021). The Philippines has announced plans to expand digital G2P payments, as well as to accelerate the expansion of its digital foundational ID system and social registry (Cho et al., 2021).

This brief discusses the main opportunities (Section 2) and challenges (Section 3) associated with digital social protection, drawing on trends pre-Covid and since the onset of the pandemic, before outlining lessons (Section 4) to help social protection actors capitalise on technology's potential in a risk-sensitive manner.

## 2 Opportunities

Several studies on digital innovations in social protection have identified quantifiable benefits from their use, both prior to Covid-19 and in the emergency pandemic response.

As outlined below, these examples illustrate the potential that well-used technology holds to help improve recipients' experience and even enhance their outcomes, while reducing programme leakage and inclusion errors, decreasing implementation costs and enabling continual improvements in programme design.

#### Improved recipient experience

Research has indicated the potential for well-designed and effectively delivered technology to improve recipients' experience in various ways. First, they can save recipients time, as illustrated by experimental evidence from Andhra Pradesh, India, where biometrically authenticated smartcard payments in the MGNREGA public works scheme led to time savings for recipients that were equal to the cost of the intervention (Muralidharan et al., 2016). For some users, they may also be more flexible and convenient; in Bangladesh, 79% of mothers participating in a mobilebased payments trial in the PESP scheme preferred the new approach, finding it reduced their travel and expanded their withdrawal options, as well as being easier to register (Gelb et al., 2019). Digital approaches can also improve participants' physical safety, by reducing theft or assault when travelling to offices or carrying physical cash from known distribution points. One US study associated digitalisation of welfare payments with a 10% decrease in the overall crime rate (Wright et al., 2014) and digital transfers are also thought to reduce female recipients' exposure to opportunistic harassment and assault (although concrete evidence of this is still limited) (Garz et al., 2020; Peterman et al., 2020; Botea et al., 2021). Digital innovations may also make programmes more inclusive and accessible for certain users, for example for those with physical disabilities or mobility constraints who had difficulty travelling to distant in-person registration or payment points but have good access to technology (Banks et al., 2020). Finally, digital delivery can reduce programme delays, as occurred in Ghana, when digitised transactions and wider use of biometrics machines reduced the timeline for public works payments from four months to a week (World Bank, 2019).

During the Covid-19 response, there was a critical need to disburse emergency payments to existing and new service users in a fast and accessible manner. Early evidence suggests that digital approaches often had a **positive impact on the speed and scale of emergency payment delivery**, at least where the foundations for digital delivery were already in place. Cross-country analysis by the World Bank suggests that countries with stronger digital infrastructure (including ID, payment systems and social registries) were generally able to implement and disburse emergency assistance programmes more rapidly than those without these assets (Palacios, 2020; Gentilini et al., 2020). The Social Protection Approaches to Covid-19 helpline (SPACE) found that faster and larger-scale Covid-19 responses were associated with the country's digital

infrastructure (ID, mobile phone and bank account coverage, and the availability of mobile phone and internet networks); the use of electronic payment modalities (less relevant for new programmes, but very significant for quick expansion of existing programmes); automatic enrolment based on pre-existing databases; and large social registry coverage (although the benefits of the latter only kick in above the 15% coverage threshold) (Beazley et al., 2021).

This is supported by studies at the country level crediting digital application systems with enabling more rapid mass registration during the pandemic, as in Namibia (Dokovic et al. 2021) and the Democratic Republic of Congo (DRC) (Bance et al., 2021). Other studies showed that those receiving payments digitally frequently accessed these more quickly or at higher rates than manual recipients, in Bangladesh and the US for example (Shonchoy et al., 2021; Hall and Neuberger, 2021). However, in several cases where electronic payments were proven to deliver faster support, the gains came from households who were already set up for digital payments for routine programmes, limiting the value of the technology in scaling up to under-served populations, for example in India and the Philippines (Gelb et al., 2021; Cho et al., 2021).

Consequently, for the millions of people globally who were able to access emergency support through digital channels during the pandemic, such mechanisms were often highly beneficial in the context of a rapidly spreading virus, confinement measures and an escalating socioeconomic crisis, facilitating access to assistance more quickly, in some cases directly to people's homes. Given the constraints under which many governments were operating (social distancing requirements, lockdowns and limited existing infrastructure for serving in-need populations), digital approaches often appear to have been central in enabling a substantial number of households to request and receive support more effectively than would likely otherwise have been possible. Nonetheless, these benefits also came with risks and challenges, particularly for those with lower access to digital infrastructure. These concerns associated with digital delivery both prior to and during the pandemic are discussed in Section 3.

#### Improved recipient outcomes

A handful of studies suggest that effectively delivered digital social protection may go beyond improving recipient experience to help improve certain recipient outcomes. In Niger, for example, mobile money transfers paid to women (after initial provision of a mobile phone) resulted in **better household food security** than traditional cash transfers, likely due to female recipients being able to reallocate the time and travel money formerly spent collecting the transfers towards more productive activities, as well as having increased decision-making power within the household over the use of the less visible transfer (Aker et al., 2016). In Bangladesh, routine scheme recipients with access to digital payments during the Covid-19 pandemic were found to suffer **lower losses to consumption and income** than counterparts relying on manual cash distribution (Shonchoy et al. 2021). This was likely related to the fact that digitised distribution was less disrupted than the manual system during lockdowns, meaning that digital recipients were more likely to receive timely and regular payments. However, the rollout of the digital system

prior to Covid was not random and digital recipients had larger incomes to begin with than their manual counterparts, so their higher income security cannot be wholly or directly attributed to the impacts of the digital mechanism itself.

Beyond this, much of the evidence on recipient-level impacts of digital approaches relates to 'interim' outcomes, such as **increases in recipients' access to financial accounts**. In Brazil, emergency payments during Covid-19 led to the opening of around 49 million new savings accounts (Yamasaki and Rodopolous, 2021). In Colombia, digital transfers through the Covid-related *Ingreso Solidario* and *Devolución IVA* schemes were credited with bringing over 850,000 recipient households into the digital financial system (Pabon, 2021). A key question is whether accounts opened under emergency measures will be converted into permanent accounts that are embraced in the longer term and used in a way that actually improves recipients' final outcomes (such as their wellbeing, income or food security). In the Philippines, there have been efforts to convert restricted accounts (those opened with lower levels of verification to receive Covid-19 payments) into regular transaction accounts, which participants can use for wider financial services. Yet uptake to date has been low, suggesting **limited impacts of initial account-opening on longer-term outcomes** in that instance (Cho et al., 2021; Cruz et al., 2022).

#### Reduced leakage and inclusion errors

Improved accuracy and accountability of social protection delivery is often held up as a potential benefit of digital social protection, and there is some notable evidence of such gains materialising in practice. Biometric audits in Nigeria helped remove 37,000 'ghost' pensions from the government pension payroll (Gelb and Decker, 2012). Using applicants' ID numbers to crosscheck eligibility against multiple government databases removed 660,000 ineligible applicants from social programme registration lists in Thailand in 2016 (World Bank, 2019). Meanwhile, the launch of a digital transfer system for a workfare programme in Bihar, India, was associated with significant reductions in corruption and leakage (Banerjee et al., 2016), and end-to-end computerisation of transactions in India's Public Distribution System (PDS) helped reduced leakage of food grains from 93% in 2004–2005 to 29% seven years later (Alderman et al., 2018).

Potential reductions in leakage are often explicitly recognised by service users as being a tangible benefit of digital approaches. For example, in a study of PDS digitalisation in Rajasthan, India, the majority of respondents preferred the digitised system to the old manual one, with over 90% citing 'no one takes my ration on my behalf' as the reason for this preference (Gelb et al., 2018). Such sentiments were also evident during a mobile payments trial in the Productive Safety Net Programme (PSNP) in Amhara, Ethiopia, where 'nobody takes our money' was the most common reason for recipients to prefer mobile transfers to manual ones (closely followed by factors relating to ease of collecting payments) (USAID and FHE, 2018).

In the emergency response to the Covid-19 crisis, analysts have highlighted technology's role in **reducing opportunities for diversion and corruption** by increasing the traceability of the

vast sums of money being distributed to citizens at an unprecedented scale and pace (Gelb and Mukherjee, 2020). In Togo, the introduction of an electronic database and a real-time online monitoring platform from the outset of the *Novissi* digital cash transfer programme in April 2020 was credited with high levels of programme transparency, as well as trust among funders (Lowe et al., 2021).

Through a separate programme implemented in 2021, Togo also provides a subsequent example of the potential benefits of digital approaches for **improving targeting quality in a data-limited, crisis context**. For a new wave of transfers in 100 rural districts, independent researchers worked with the government and the NGO GiveDirectly to pilot a machine learning-based targeting approach, using satellite imagery and mobile phone records to identify the most vulnerable areas and households (Aiken et al., 2021). The new targeting method was deemed a rapid and cost-effective supplement to traditional approaches, significantly reducing exclusion and inclusion errors relative to other methods that could have been feasible in the context. It did not show evidence of gender, ethnicity, religion or age bias, and performed particularly well when selecting among relatively homogenous populations, and between those above and below the extreme poverty line. Throughout the process, extensive measures were taken to ensure maximum protection of users' privacy and confidentiality.¹

#### **Reduced implementation costs**

Whether due to reduced leakage and inclusion errors or the greater efficiency of automated systems, several studies have associated digitalisation with *lower programme implementation costs*. For example, in Argentina, the use of unique ID numbers to link participant lists from 34 social programme databases (and thereby address inclusion errors) led to savings of \$143 million over an eight-year period (World Bank, 2019). A biometric enrolment campaign in Botswana's social grant and pension programme reportedly reduced the number of recipients by 25% by cutting out ghost, deceased and duplicate entries, resulting in annual savings of around \$1.7 million (Gelb and Decker, 2012; Gronbach, 2020). Mobile money payments in a cash transfer trial in Niger saw a higher upfront cost due to the initial need to purchase mobile phones for participants, but per-transfer costs were around 20% lower than physical distribution (Aker et al., 2016). Meanwhile, the shift to bank transfers for social grant delivery in South Africa was associated with a 62% reduction in delivery costs (Bankable Frontier Associates, 2006, in Pickens et al., 2009).

For example, only metadata that was strictly required for the targeting exercise was collected, and it was stored on secure servers with access restricted based on a thorough data management plan. Potentially sensitive metadata was relabelled with a unique ID prior to analysis and use, and the only data shared by the research team with the implementing agencies were the SIM card numbers to contact the final list of eligible recipients (Aiken et al., 2021).

#### Better data for designing and refining policies and programmes

Where electronic systems have improved the traceability of social protection delivery, they have also sometimes been associated with providing higher-quality data for more transparent, 'real-time' decision-making (Hare and Parekh, 2020). For example, the introduction of a highfrequency, phone-based monitoring system for a farmers' cash transfer programme in Telengana, India, resulted in a 8% decline in the number of participants not receiving their expected transfers, as well as a 3% increase in the rate of on-time delivery (Muralidharan et al., 2019). While the study mainly attributes these results to the increased incentive for officials to be seen to be performing well under the new monitoring system, it also notes the potential of phone-based monitoring to enable continuous improvements in programme design and implementation by providing more detailed, regular and rapid information on programme performance than in-person field surveys (ibid.). Relatedly, a study of digital public service delivery in Andhra Pradesh, India, found that the state government has continually improved service performance through 'real-time' monitoring and analysis of digitally recorded administrative data, alongside high-frequency phone surveys (Gelb and Mukherjee, 2019). This feedback is used to refine strategies at the programme level, as well as to identify individual grievances, which are then resolved within a specified timeframe and require community-based officials to step in to address technology failures (ibid.).

## 3 Risks and challenges

While there are many potential benefits of technology, there is also evidence that – unless designed and implemented with inclusive intentions and careful mitigating measures – digitalisation may, in some cases, do more harm than good. Such concerns relate to potential risks and challenges of exclusion, protection and privacy violations, 'techno-solutionism' and obscured transparency and accountability.

#### Entrenched exclusion of the most vulnerable populations

'Amplification theory' suggests that, far from having 'transformative' potential, technology is primarily a magnifier of existing institutional forces, including current social, economic and political dynamics (Toyama, 2011). Without strong mitigation measures, digital approaches to social protection may therefore entrench existing exclusion, with those most in need of assistance being least likely to have access to the technological devices, networks and systems that underpin digital delivery.

Prior to Covid-19, there was already evidence of digital approaches entrenching the exclusion of vulnerable populations. In India, for example, biometric authentication and electronic payments have been associated with compounding exclusion risks at each phase of social protection delivery, due to: (1) poor-quality information on vulnerability in the databases used for initial targeting exercises; (2) stringent eligibility checks during biometric enrolment excluding marginalised households (who are more likely to lack documentation or have administrative errors in past identification records); (3) payment transaction failures due to issues with identity verification, or blocked or frozen bank accounts; and (4) challenges with digital payment withdrawal due to distance from payment points, network failures, biometric errors and overcharging or fraud (Gupta, 2021). Faced with such constraints, vulnerable individuals or households often find themselves either wholly excluded from digital social protection delivery, or reliant on human intermediaries to navigate their access (Chaudhuri, 2019). While some intermediaries may provide this service for a minimal fee, others may exploit digitally excluded individuals or households, who have few other options for accessing services.

Similar issues have been documented in other contexts, from low-income countries to the wealthiest nations. In Uganda, ID requirements have barred many from social protection due to issues with biometric registration or verification, inconsistencies in identification records and the high costs associated with accessing an ID card or replacing lost or damaged documents (Unwanted Witness, 2019; CHRGJ, ISER and Unwanted Witness, 2021). Meanwhile, in the UK and US, flaws in eligibility algorithms, errors in electronic databases and lack of access to required documentation, internet or digital devices have left millions unable to claim benefits or being wrongly accused of welfare fraud (Eubanks, 2018; UN, 2019). The UK government's independent

audit of its 'digital-by-default' service shift found that only around half of claimants were able to make a claim online without help, with most not having the documents needed to verify their identity electronically (National Audit Office, 2018).

The heightened exclusion risks associated with digital social protection are unsurprising given persistent gaps and inequalities in access to three key assets underlying digital approaches. First, as indicated above, vulnerable groups often lack access to identification or civil registration required to register for or claim digital benefits. For example, 44% of women and 28% of men in low-income countries lack access to official proof of identity (Zimmerman et al., 2020). Poorer or otherwise disadvantaged populations are particularly likely not to have biometric identification records, but even when they attempt to register or verify themselves biometrically, they tend to be rejected at higher rates. In India, people with disabilities, farmers, manual labourers and older people have been the most likely to struggle with biometric iris scans or to lack readable fingerprints, leaving them disproportionately excluded from biometrically verified welfare schemes (Privacy Intl, 2021; Parsheera, 2020 in Barca et al., 2021; Allu, Deo and Devalkar, 2019).

Second, even if they can prove their identity to claim digital benefits, **ownership of and access to digital devices** is far lower among disadvantaged groups. For example, in one study in Papua New Guinea only 16% of women had a mobile phone (compared to the average ownership rate of 50% for the population as a whole) (Payne, 2020). In a trial of mobile payments in a social protection programme in Bangladesh, 45% of mothers receiving mobile money benefits were unable to read or reply to the SMS messages they received (Gelb et al., 2019). Meanwhile, people with disabilities face barriers to digital access due to affordability constraints and limited accessibility of devices, programmes and websites (UN, 2021).

Finally, even for those with ready access to electronic devices, **access to digital networks** (mobile or internet network coverage, electricity, payment agents or withdrawal points) may be limited, particularly in rural or remote areas. For example, in 2019 around 60% of African households lacked a reliable electricity supply, and nearly half of households globally that lack mobile broadband networks are based in sub-Saharan Africa (Afrobarometer, 2019; GSMA, 2020b; Gronbach, 2020).

These exclusion risks were also evident during the pandemic, generating concern that digital Covid-19 responses neglected some of the most vulnerable households at their time of greatest need (Masiero, 2020; Roelen and Carter, 2022). Digital registration systems were often inaccessible for the most disadvantaged households, as highlighted by accounts from South Africa, the DRC, Mexico and India (Alfers, 2021; GIZ, 2021; Gronbach et al., 2022). In Brazil, at least 7.4 million people eligible for the *Auxilio Emergencial* scheme lacked internet access, including 30% of households in the north-east (Lustig and Trasberg, 2021). Even where digital Covid-19 payments were disbursed to people with bank accounts prior to the pandemic, as in India, issues arose. Accounts had often fallen dormant or had not been correctly verified against the account

holder's identity or mobile phone number, and many recipients struggled to cash out payments, given time, distance, travel costs and lockdown restrictions hampering access to distant withdrawal points (Dreze and Somanchi, 2021; Gelb et al., 2021). In Bangladesh, discrepancies between National Identification Cards and corresponding mobile phone numbers meant that grants were initially disbursed to less than half of 5 million targeted households (WIEGO, 2020). In the US, access to unemployment benefits and emergency stimulus payments was hindered by lack of internet and bank accounts and problems with facial recognition technology (Holtzblatt and Karpman, 2020; Feathers, 2021).

Within low-income populations, individuals with particular socio-economic disadvantages often faced the greatest barriers to accessing digital social protection programming in response to Covid-19. In Bolivia, indigenous people were particularly likely to face challenges accessing emergency Bono Universal payments due to not having a national identity number, or living in territories without financial institutions for payment withdrawal (Diaz and Venturini, 2021). Where registration and payments were online or mobile-based, women's access in India was often mediated by male relatives or owners of internet cafes or shopkeepers, since men are more likely to own a smartphone and be internet-literate (Ghosh, 2021; Gelb et al., 2021). In Pakistan, only 25% of women received emergency government support in April 2020, compared to 63% of men, which was in part attributed to the need to have a mobile phone (with sufficient credit to send enrolment messages), a bank account and a legal ID for Covid-19 transfers (O'Donnell et al., 2021). There is also widespread evidence of older people struggling to access emergency assistance due to a reliance on digital technologies for information-sharing (e.g. in Belize and Vietnam), new scheme registration (e.g. in India and Pakistan) and mobile payments (e.g. in Mozambique and Kenya) (Juergens and Galvani, 2021).

Although some important measures were taken to help mitigate exclusion (Box 1), many were still neglected by Covid-19 programming. Further evidence is needed to understand the scale and impacts of this exclusion, and to ensure that those overlooked by pandemic responses are not penalised in the longer term by digitalisation shifts. In some cases, permanent exclusion may arise because emergency caseloads that were rapidly registered during the pandemic (through often-questionable identification processes) are now set to benefit from longer-term support, leaving households that were initially excluded at an even greater disadvantage (as for Colombia's *Ingreso Solidario* scheme). In other cases, digital approaches trialled during the pandemic are starting to be incorporated into routine systems, which may render those poorly served by the pandemic response less able to access future support (as in Togo, where the digital-only Novissi programme is regarded as a proof-of-concept for permanent provision) (Lowe et al., 2021).

#### Box 1 Mitigation measures to overcome exclusion risks

Wherever digital approaches are used, it is vital to take proactive steps to overcome exclusion risks. In Covid-19 programming, various mitigation measures were adopted as emergency schemes were rolled out, in some cases proactively and in other cases in response to emerging evidence of exclusion. One set of measures related to **adapting procedures to overcome exclusionary pre-requisites** for participation. For example, in Indonesia's Village Cash Transfers scheme, local teams were given the authority to step in to verify the person's identity, where applicants lacked a national ID card (Roelen and Carter, 2022). In Pakistan, the requirement to have a valid ID was waived for those with expired cards, payment deadlines were extended for those facing issues with biometric verification, and SMS registration and helpline messages were made free of charge (Nishtar, 2021). In Somalia, access to mobile money transfers was facilitated by the distribution of SIM cards to those lacking phone access (Holmes, 2021).

Another key mitigation measure was to **expand the range of delivery mechanisms available** to ensure an adequate combination of digital and in-person approaches. In Thailand, the initial web-only registration approach for Covid-19 programming was adapted to allow digitally excluded households to register at state-owned banks (ESCAP, 2021). In South Africa, the combination of digital and 'traditional' outreach channels was deemed critical for making emergency provisions relatively well-known (Roelen and Carter, 2022). In Peru, the range of payment mechanisms was successively increased to include transfers into bank accounts, mobile e-wallets, over-the-counter collection and cash-in-hand delivery (although it was felt that recipients would have been better-off still if they had been able to select their preferred option rather than being assigned a mechanism based on government-held information about account ownership) (Lowe et al., 2021).

A third principal factor for mitigating exclusion risks related to the **involvement of civil society and community representatives** in ensuring successful provision to otherwise-neglected groups. As illustrated by accounts from Kenya, South Africa and Thailand, civil society organisations were crucial in making digitally excluded households aware of new government programming and assisting them to apply (Roelen and Carter, 2022). In Argentina and South Africa, the existence of mechanisms to represent community voices in policy-making processes was essential for developing more inclusive government provisions (ibid.). Civil society organisations also played a primary role in monitoring the extent to which vulnerable households were accessing emergency support and in advocating for more inclusive provision, as in Sri Lanka (Lowe et al., 2021). Where civil society actors are being relied on to facilitate government provision to vulnerable groups, it is important that they are adequately recognised and compensated for this crucial role.

## Data misuse violating the privacy and protection of vulnerable populations

Recent years have seen growing unease about data protection and privacy risks associated with technologies used for social protection delivery. In countries where biometric ID systems are being rolled out nationally and linked to social protection benefits (such as India and Kenya), the lack of robust legal frameworks protecting participants' data has been a cause for concern, as have recurrent breaches of such databases (Sepúlveda Carmona, 2018; National Law University Delhi, 2019; Privacy International, 2019). Such privacy threats are even more concerning given that participants often feel obligated to provide information despite unease about its use; in Uganda, 25% of men and 13% of women surveyed were uncomfortable sharing much of the personal information required to get a national ID card, regarding some of the details (such as ethnicity and tribe) as an infringement of their privacy or a mechanism for government surveillance (Unwanted Witness, 2019).

**Such data protection and privacy risks have in several cases led to harassment or abuse of vulnerable households**. In some instances, these rights violations have been committed by **private corporations**, through predatory practices targeting social protection applicants or recipients. In South Africa, a scam resulted in almost one in four electronic grant recipients being automatically charged for insurance, airtime, loans and other financial services (Gronbach, 2020). In India, technology has been used to mask fraudulent withdrawals from participants' accounts in MGNREGA payments (Gupta, 2020), while in Brazil there have been multiple instances of fraud using electronic social protection participant records (Fragoso and Valente, 2021).

On other occasions, **governments or political actors** have themselves committed mass rights violations using digital databases linked to social protection. In Kenya, ethnic and religious minorities have faced systematic discrimination when attempting to register for national ID cards, preventing their access to ID-linked social protection benefits (Privacy Intl, 2021). Concerns have also arisen about government abuse of surveillance technologies associated with digital welfare systems, for example to discriminate against those identified as migrants or transgender in Venezuela (Diaz and Venturini, 2021) and to subject low-income and immigrant communities to disproportionate scrutiny related to welfare fraud surveillance in the Netherlands (a practice which was subsequently banned by the Dutch Supreme Court) (Henley and Booth, 2020). In other cases, databases compiled for assistance provision by one actor have fallen into the hands of a repressive regime; in Myanmar, Rohingya refugees provided biometric data to register for UNHCR assistance in Bangladesh, some of which has reportedly been shared with the government of Bangladesh and subsequently the Myanmar government (HRW, 2021; Holloway and Lough, 2021). In Afghanistan, biometric ID databases developed and promoted by international actors (including for ID-based access to social programmes) have likely now been taken over by the Taliban, highlighting the risks of centralised, biometric ID systems in fragile contexts where such information could easily be abused (Access Now, 2021).

**During the pandemic, existing risks of data misuse are perceived to have been amplified by 'rushed innovation' with digital tools**. In times of crisis, it is common for digital innovation to occur without the usual levels of caution and scrutiny (Madianou, 2020; Roberts, 2019), and governments and corporations may actively exploit states of emergency to increase surveillance, bypass individual rights or profit from users' data (Newlands et al., 2020). In the Covid-19 response, repeated concerns about data protection risks have most often been discussed in relation to digital tools for public health contact tracing. Yet many such concerns could also apply to the rapid design and deployment of digital-based emergency social protection (Masiero, 2020).

First, emergency social protection agreements were often developed hurriedly, leading to questionable privacy procedures for much of the new data collected. In the Philippines, local government units exchanged sensitive information on social protection eligibility in insecure emails (Cho et al., 2021). In the US, private debt collectors captured emergency stimulus payments of some indebted recipients (Ivanova, 2020). In addition, increased cybercrime and digital disinformation during the pandemic have extended to the social protection sphere, as illustrated by the increase in digital scams related to registration for emergency cash transfers in Malawi, Ghana, India and Brazil (Roelen et al., 2021; Rizzi, 2022). More broadly, there are concerns that people registering for Covid-19 programmes were unable to give truly voluntary or fully informed consent regarding their data use given rampant virus transmission and lockdown restrictions. Without proper safeguards and consent procedures, data collected hastily during the crisis risks being used for purposes against participants' knowledge or will, such as for immigration, law enforcement or counter-terrorism monitoring by governments, or for commercial purposes by private enterprises (Madianou, 2020; Taylor, 2020; Newlands et al., 2020).

## Mixed evidence on cost-effectiveness given social protection objectives and needs

While technology is often touted as a cost-saving mechanism, evidence on the overall cost-effectiveness of digital approaches complicates this picture.

Critics of 'techno-solutionism' argue that 'tech fixes' are sometimes embraced as supposedly cost-effective solutions to complex social problems, without properly accounting for the technology's ancillary costs, and without acknowledging or addressing the root causes of those problems (Morozov, 2013; Greene, 2021). In other cases, technological innovation is felt to be serving as an intentional pretext 'to slash budgets and slim down the welfare state' (UN, 2019). According to a report by the UN's former Special Rapporteur on Extreme Poverty, digitalisation of social protection is often accompanied by 'deep reductions in the overall welfare budget, narrowing of the beneficiary pool, elimination of some services, introduction of demanding and intrusive forms of conditionality, the pursuit of behavioural modification goals, the imposition of stronger sanctions regimes, [and the] complete reversal of the traditional notion that States should be accountable to the individual' (ibid.). In the US, Eubanks (2015) notes a similar 'high-tech façade' being used to mask new cuts to welfare provision, while in the

Netherlands some municipal governments have been accused of reducing numbers by making it intentionally difficult for people to apply for social security, due to overwhelming amounts of data required in digital applications (Rubio, 2018, in Van Zoonen, 2020).

In addition, analyses of the actual cost-savings achieved through new technologies suggest that the gains sometimes fall short of advocates' claims. For example, while India's digital governance reforms have in some cases achieved impressive cost savings alongside increases in service quality (e.g. in Andhra Pradesh (Aadil et al., 2019)), in other cases the net cost-effectiveness of digitalisation initiatives have been called into question. For example, several studies have concluded that introducing biometric identity verification into the subsidised food distribution programme did not actually lead to overall reductions in leakages (in part because the latter mostly related to 'quantity fraud' rather than identity fraud), and some suggest that corruption may actually have increased under the new system (Allu, Deo and Devalkar, 2019; Dreze et al., 2017 in Malaza and Parekh, 2020; Singh et al., 2020; Hosein and Whitley, 2019 in Carswell and de Neve, 2021). The financial benefits of new digital approaches may therefore sometimes be overstated, and there may be a tendency to underestimate their associated costs. For example, when assessing the cost-effectiveness of digital payments, researchers have cautioned the need to fully account for the major up-front investments in physical payment infrastructure required, as well as the substantial costs of a robust financial identification system and consumer protection and education (Klapper and Singer, 2017). Tying up capital in projects of questionable long-term value presents a significant opportunity cost for governments (Nyabola, 2021).

Where savings are made, these sometimes reflect cuts in service quantity or quality. In the US, cuts to service provision based on increased use of algorithms in social care assessments resulted in a series of legal challenges by care users reporting harmful reductions in service quality (McCormick, 2021). In India, Muralidharan et al. (2021) found that biometric authentication reforms in social protection delivery resulted in substantial costs to eligible participants, millions of whom lost access to benefits at some point during the reforms; these 'indirect' costs can easily surpass any potential benefits from reduced leakage. Digital innovation is reported to have 'brought additional anxiety to poor people's lives' (Dreze et al., 2017 in Masiero, 2021), and can be associated with a perceived deterioration in service quality, as illustrated by the almost universal (97%) dissatisfaction with digitised access to the Public Distribution System in a pilot in Jharkhand, India (Pandey, 2018). Where service users had found the earlier manual system to be working relatively well, they may find that digitalisation *increases* the costs of accessing support if they have to navigate unfamiliar and unreliable digital channels in environments with volatile and patchy digital infrastructure (Madianou, 2021).

Although the evidence above focuses on routine social protection provision, many of the same concerns about net cost-effectiveness of digital approaches have also been noted in relation to Covid-19 responses. Experimental evidence from Colombia found that those receiving new VAT Compensation payments by mobile money associated this technology with

additional costs rather than benefits, reporting twice as many payment delays or difficulties compared to physical cash recipients (Londoño-Vélez and Querubin, 2020). None of those interviewed reported purchasing goods or services electronically with their mobile money payments; instead, they travelled to banks and ATMs to immediately cash out payments, which was often an expensive and time-consuming process especially for rural recipients, and which meant that mobile money recipients were no less likely to leave home during the lockdown period than in-person cash recipients (ibid.). Research from the Philippines indicates high time and travel costs for those receiving emergency Covid-19 payments digitally, who had to travel an average of 30 minutes and queue for approximately 100 further minutes to withdraw their payments, due to the small number of ATMs serving programme participants, particularly in remote areas (Cho et al., 2021). Where benefits were cashed out at payment agents, there were instances of agents increasing cash-out fees for scheme recipients, until this was addressed by new regulations (ibid.).

Given vulnerable households' widespread challenges accessing digital delivery, in-person approaches have often been required as a supplement to or eventual substitute for digital approaches, limiting the technology's supposed cost-savings. In the Philippines, electronic verification of emergency cash applicants struggled to determine eligibility, meaning the government had to resort to local manual validation of applicants (Cho et al., 2021). Furthermore, while 7-8 million new accounts were opened to receive digital transfers during the second phase of the emergency, inadequate recipient data meant that far fewer could actually be used for digital transactions, requiring physical distribution instead in these cases (ibid.).

#### Reduced accountability and transparency of public service provision

While some view technology as a mechanism for increasing the traceability of social protection benefits, others highlight the opacity and lack of accountability that often accompany digital approaches to service provision, including during the pandemic. Reliance on digital media for outreach and information-sharing can leave digitally excluded individuals unaware and therefore unable to hold governments to account. As illustrated in studies from Indonesia (Hebbar et al., 2021) and beyond (Roelen and Carter, 2022), this problem was exacerbated during the response to Covid-19, since frequent changes in policies and programming were advertised through predominantly digital channels to reduce contagion risks.

For registration and enrolment too, the replacement of in-person approaches with digital platforms frequently leaves applicants unsure where to turn to resolve issues, as has been documented in the UK's 'digital-by-default' Universal Credit system (UN, 2019). Once applications are submitted, algorithms to determine social protection eligibility in digital databases are often intentionally obscure. While this aims to prevent applicants from 'gaming the system', it also makes it very difficult for incorrectly assessed applicants to understand or appeal against their exclusion. The 'black box mystery' of eligibility algorithms was an issue before Covid, but raised

particular concerns in pandemic programming, since enrolment decisions were often based on more limited or out-of-date information, as illustrated by case studies from Ecuador, Colombia and South Africa (Palacio Ludeña, 2021; López, 2020; WIEGO, 2020).

Even after eligibility has been determined, technology can also undermine accountability and transparency during the benefit collection phase. For example in India, the switch to digital, biometrically authenticated transactions made it difficult for participants to understand or resolve the cause of access challenges (Chaudhuri, 2020). The electronic system to keep track of benefits through SMS records of receipt was found to be less reliable than the previous recordkeeping system of paper ration booklets, because text messages often did not come through immediately (or at all), were difficult to read for those with low levels of digital, functional or English literacy, and were not permanently available to those who lacked ownership of the mobile device or phone number linked to their benefits (Carswell and de Neve, 2021).

Alongside reduced state accountability, a related concern is the growing role and influence of for-profit service providers in digital social protection delivery. Whereas government agencies and officials are accountable for front-line delivery in most in-person social protection provision, private tech companies, mobile network operators and financial service providers are frequently responsible for the services, hardware and software underpinning automated approaches (Madianou, 2020). The large scale of public service contracts means that there are strong financial incentives at play, and despite efforts to ensure transparency in procurement and service delivery, increased reliance on for-profit third parties can raise concerns about private sector influence over public service provision and associated data access (Privacy International, 2020; Shepherd-Barron, 2020; OHCHR, 2021). In relation to service provision in lower-income countries, these fears are exacerbated by the fact that the private companies behind digital social protection are often based in the so-called 'Global North', raising concerns about a new era of 'digital colonialism' (Kwet, 2019) that risks 'simultaneously impoverish [ing] development of local products while also leaving the continent dependent on Western software and infrastructure' (Birhane, 2020). In some cases, the digital tools being promoted in lower-income countries have not been accepted for use in the Global North.2

Given the rapid digitalisation of many aspects of public service provision during the pandemic, the above concerns have only been amplified by the Covid-19 crisis (Madianou, 2020). Going forward, it will be key to address these concerns to ensure that longer-term delivery arrangements are developed in a way that supports citizens to hold the state and any intermediary service providers to account for their right to social protection.

See Sepulveda Carmona (2018) for a discussion of the reluctance of high-income countries to introduce biometric technology into their national identity and social protection systems.



That said, it is also important to recognise that the concerns outlined above are not restricted to digital approaches. A careful consideration of the nuanced benefits and costs in relation to the viable alternative approach is therefore necessary. In South Africa, for example, the social assistance agency's negative past experience outsourcing social grant payment provision to private fintech providers (who engaged in predatory practices targeting recipients) has led to a strong reliance on the state-owned post office/bank to disburse social grants, both prior to the pandemic and in the emergency response to Covid-19 (Gronbach et al., 2022). Yet disbursements through this state-owned system have been widely associated with limited accessibility of pay points, payment delays, security breaches and escalating costs

(ibid.). The Covid-19 response saw chaotic conditions at pay points, fraud and corruption, and considerable time and travel costs for rural recipients to access emergency support. The absence of digital innovation in emergency payment delivery was considered by some analysts to be the social assistance agency's 'biggest failure' in its Covid-19 programming and a 'missed golden opportunity' to improve the flawed status quo (ibid.). This illustrates that, when considering the merits of investing in digital interventions, it is important to take into account not only the potential risks or costs of adopting a digital approach, but also the (short- and long-term) risks or costs of not adopting that approach, and instead maintaining the default provision or pursuing an alternative 'manual' route.



## 4 Lessons

Ultimately, the opportunities and risks associated with digitalising social protection – and the balance between these – will depend on the specific intervention and the context in which it is being applied. Technology is merely a tool, and its outcomes depend on the needs that it is expected to meet, the goals it is deployed to pursue, and the specific ways in which it is designed and implemented (Gelb, Mukherjee and Navis, 2020; Masiero, 2020). Even when a digital system or programme is introduced, human intermediaries will typically continue to play a role at the last mile of service provision, meaning a hybrid system often develops in practice (particularly where technological infrastructure and access is patchy) (Chaudhuri, 2019).

'Binary thinking' is therefore unlikely to be fruitful when considering the overall impact of digitalising social protection. The outcomes of a given intervention will rarely be categorically positive or negative; it is rather a case of understanding how benefits and costs will be distributed (who will be better or worse off, to what extent, and why), as well as the effectiveness of the measures taken to mitigate potential concerns and maximise expected gains.

With these points in mind, eight general lessons are outlined below, to help guide policy-makers, practitioners and partners when considering, designing or implementing digital approaches to social protection provision.

## Lesson 1: Where digital innovation is pursued, ensure the primary goal is broader access and better provision for service users.

In the unique context of the Covid-19 pandemic, it was imperative for governments to adapt existing programming to public health restrictions, while rapidly establishing additional provisions to meet vast new needs of those whose lives and livelihoods had been damaged by the crisis. In relation to these objectives and constraints, digital approaches played a notable role in maintaining and expanding the delivery of vital support for many people worldwide during the pandemic. Yet many were also left behind, put at risk, or inefficiently-served by the accelerated reliance on digital approaches.

As digital approaches to social protection are considered going forward, it is vital to assess the underlying goals and rationale for digitalisation initiatives, to ensure that the primary focus is on improving the coverage, quality and comprehensiveness of social protection provision. If digital approaches are expected to save costs, this should be viewed as a means to subsidise the ongoing provision of more resource-intensive support, rather than as a means to cut provision overall. If technology appears to have been adopted as an end in itself, or as a 'quick fix' distracting from attention to the real problem at hand, the feasibility and desirability of the approach should be reevaluated and alternative solutions considered.

## Lesson 2: Recognise that technology can serve to replicate existing inequalities and reinforce existing political dynamics, unless intentional mitigating action is taken.

If institutional capacity or political will for social protection is lacking to begin with, it should not be assumed that digital approaches will substitute for these deficiencies. Furthermore, the digitalisation of social protection can easily exacerbate prior socio-economic vulnerabilities and inequalities, unless carefully designed to combat exclusionary forces. It is vital that these tendencies are recognised, and appropriate mitigating measures put in place, if the digitalisation of social protection is to improve upon rather than aggravate the status quo.

## Lesson 3: Where digital approaches are taken, adequately complement them with alternative, additional and back-up manual provision.

As highlighted in Section 3 (Box 1), it is crucial to take pre-emptive steps to mitigate the exclusion risks associated with digital provision and to ensure that a range of approaches are in place to allow users with different needs to access social protection in a way that is accessible, convenient, and effective for them. Many of the most vulnerable will not be able to benefit from digital approaches, so it is essential that *alternative*, in-person approaches are established from the outset (so that the 'hybrid' system that operates in practice is as effective as possible for digitally excluded service users). Moreover, some users might benefit from digital approaches, but relying on technology alone will be insufficient to include them, requiring *additional* in-person support to help facilitate their access to digital systems. Finally, even for those who manage to access digital services, technologies sometimes fail, requiring appropriate manual *back-up* provisions. During a crisis, digital approaches may well have a role to play in delivering immediate emergency assistance for a sub-set of the population; however, a purely digital strategy should only be relied on as a **stop-gap while mobilising a more comprehensive (digital and manual) response**, rather than as a sufficient solo strategy for overall provision.

## Lesson 4: Put human rights considerations and protections front and centre in any digital approach.

The digitalisation of social protection can pose serious risks for already vulnerable groups. Proactive measures must be taken to ensure that citizens' and residents' rights are fully protected and actively promoted, including special consideration of the needs and wellbeing of particular marginalised groups. These measures should include (but not be limited to) the full protection of applicant and recipient data, with privacy, confidentiality and security considerations guiding the design and implementation of all digital approaches, and information only being collected where necessary, and only being processed for the relevant purpose.

# Lesson 5: Develop strong governance arrangements and legal and regulatory frameworks to ensure rights-respecting use of technology in social protection systems.

The consideration of users' rights in digital social protection initiatives must be complemented by efforts to improve the wider environment in which technologies are adopted. This includes strengthening the laws and policies regulating digital service provision, and ensuring that

accountability for upholding service users' rights is clear and that recourse mechanisms for addressing rights violations are effective and accessible. This should be accompanied by investment in the capacity of independent institutions responsible for monitoring and implementing the relevant laws and policies, to ensure that rights are respected in practice and not just on paper.

# Lesson 6: Promote strong public participation and oversight in the design, implementation and monitoring of social protection, including consideration of any digital approaches.

To achieve strong public participation and oversight, potential and existing service users need to be meaningfully involved in the consideration, development, delivery and evaluation of digital approaches to social protection provision, including a specific focus on ensuring that views and experiences of marginalised groups are understood and addressed. Policies and procedures should be in place to ensure transparent delivery, including mandatory procedures for data protection breaches or other rights infringements to be disclosed and appropriately addressed.

## Lesson 7: Adapt and continually refine the design and implementation of digital approaches based on users' feedback.

Proactively soliciting users' feedback and refining provision based on their comments is a fundamental tenet of Adaptive Management, and an important principle for all public service provision (Andrews et al., 2017; Rocha Menocal et al., 2021). Nonetheless, this practice is particularly important for digital social protection, given the heightened vulnerabilities of many service users, and the distance that technology can create between them and the government agency ultimately responsible for provision.

## Lesson 8: Continue to develop digital and financial services infrastructure and to promote digital and financial inclusion, but remain realistic about its limitations.

Particularly during stable (non-crisis) periods, efforts should be made to develop digital and financial service infrastructure and to focus in particular on enhancing the access of disadvantaged populations. However, it is important not to underestimate the scale and quality of infrastructure and capacity required for these investments to deliver the desired returns. A myriad of social, cultural, political and economic barriers hinders vulnerable individuals' access to digital devices and consistent use of financial accounts. Addressing one factor will rarely transform financial or digital inclusion outcomes; for this, a comprehensive, longer-term strategy to develop effective and inclusive digital and financial services infrastructure will be key.



#### Box 2 Further guidance

For additional guidance on improving the use of technologies in particular spheres see:

- Social protection information system development: e.g. Chirchir and Barca (2020); Barca and Beazley (2019); Barca et al. (2021); Barca and Hebbar (2020); Lindert et al. (2020); Digital Convergence Initiative (2022)
- Identification and data protection: e.g. Enabling Digital, GIZ and SPIAC-B (2020); Goodman et al. (2020); ID4D (n.d.); ICRB and VUB (2020)
- Digital payments: e.g. Better than Cash Alliance (n.d.; 2021); Lindert et al. (2020)
- Al in social protection systems: e.g. Ohlenburg (2020); World Bank (2020)
- Digital approaches in development programmes: e.g. DIAL (n.d.)

## References

- Aadil, A., A. Gelb, A. Giri, A. Mukherjee, K. Navis and M. Thapliyal (2019) 'Digital Governance: Is Krishna a Glimpse of the Future?' Washington DC, Center for Global Development (CGD) https://www.cgdev.org/publication/digital-governance-krishna-glimpse-future-working-paper
- **Access Now** (2021) 'Afghanistan: What Now After Two Decades of Building Data-Intensive Systems?' https://privacyinternational.org/news-analysis/4615/afghanistan-what-now-after-two-decades-building-data-intensive-systems
- **Afrobarometer** (2019) 'Progress toward 'reliable energy for all' stalls across Africa, Afrobarometer survey finds'. https://afrobarometer.org/sites/default/files/press-release/ab\_r7\_pr\_progress\_toward\_reliable\_energy\_stalls\_across\_africa-.pdf
- Aiken, E., S. Bellue, D. Karlan, C. R. Udry, and J. Blumenstock (2021) 'Machine Learning and Mobile Phone Data Can Improve the Targeting of Humanitarian Assistance'. https://www.nber.org/papers/w29070
- **Aker, J., R. Boumnijel, A. McClelland, and N. Tierney** (2016) 'Comparing Cash and Mobile Transfers in Niger'. https://www.povertyactionlab.org/evaluation/comparing-cash-and-mobile-transfers-niger
- Alderman, H., U. Gentilini, R. Yemtsov (2018) The 1.5 Billion People Question: Food, Vouchers, or Cash Transfers? Washington, DC: World Bank. https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/handle/10986/27907
- **Alfers, L.** (2021) 'A Digital Bridget to Social Support'. https://www.project-syndicate.org/commentary/social-programs-for-informal-workers-must-bridge-digital-divide-by-laura-alfers-2021-06
- **Allu, R., S. Deo and S. Devalkar** (2019) 'Alternatives to Aadhaar-based Biometrics in the Public Distribution System'. *Economic & Political Weekly*. Vol LIV No. 12. http://www.im4change.org/siteadmin/tinymce/uploaded/EPW%2oAadhaar.pdf
- **Andrews, M., L. Pritchett, and M. Woolcock** (2017) *Building State Capability: Evidence, Analysis, Action.* Oxford: Oxford University Press. https://bsc.cid.harvard.edu/building-state-capability-evidence-analysis-action
- **Aulia, F. and Maliki** (2021) 'How to overcome the impact of COVID-19 on poverty in Indonesia?' in Bilo et al. (2021) *What's next for social protection in light of COVID-19:* country responses? https://ipcig.org/publication/30008?language\_content\_entity=en
- Banerjee, A, E. Duflo, C. Imbert, S. Mathew & R. Pande (2020) 'E-governance, Accountability, and Leakage in Public Programs: Experimental Evidence from a Financial Management Reform in India'. *American Economic Journal: Applied Economics*, vol 12(4), pages 39-72. https://www.nber.org/papers/w22803

- Bance, P., L. Bermeo, and F. Kabemba (2021) 'Cash and the city: Digital COVID-19 social response in Kinshasa'. https://www.brookings.edu/blog/future-development/2021/09/08/ cash-and-the-city-digital-covid-19-social-response-in-kinshasa/
- Bankable Frontier Associates (2006). 'Scoping report on the payment of social transfers through the financial system.' London: DFID.
- Banks, L.M., C. Davey, T. Shakespeare, and H. Kuper (2021). 'Disability-inclusive responses to COVID-19: Lessons learnt from research on social protection in low- and middle-income countries'. World Dev 2021 Jan; 137: 105178. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/ PMC7455235/
- Barca, V. (2017) Integrating data and information management for social protection: social registries and integrated beneficiary registries. Canberra: DFAT. https://www.dfat.gov.au/ sites/default/files/integrating-data-information-management-social-protection-full.pdf
- Barca, V. and R. Beazley (2019) Building on government systems for shock preparedness and response: the role of social assistance data and information systems. Canberra: DFAT. https://www.dfat.gov.au/about-us/publications/Pages/building-government-systems-forshock-preparedness-and-response-the-role-of-social-assistance-data-and-informationsystems
- Barca, V. and M. Hebbar (2020) On-demand and up to date? Dynamic inclusion and data updating for social assistance. Bonn: GIZ. https://socialprotection.org/discover/publications/ demand-and-date-dynamic-inclusion-and-data-updating-social-assistance
- Barca, V., M. Hebbar and A. Cote, with E. Schoemaker, S. Enfield, R. Holmes, and E. Wylde (2021) 'Inclusive Information Systems for Social Protection: Intentionally Integrating Gender and Disability'. https://www.calpnetwork.org/wp-content/uploads/ninja-forms/2/ SPACE\_Inclusive-information-systems-for-social-protection\_FINAL.pdf
- Beazley, R., M. Marzi, and R. Steller (2021) 'Drivers of Timely and Large-Scale Cash Responses to COVID-19: what does the data say?' https://socialprotection.org/sites/default/ files/publications\_files/SPACE\_Drivers%20of%20Timely%20and%20Large%20Scale%20 Cash%20Responses%20to%20COVID\_19%20%281%29.pdf
- Berner and Van Hemelryck (2020) 'Sistemas de información social y registros de destinatarios de la protección social no contributiva en América Latina: avances y desafíos frente al COVID-19'. https://www.cepal.org/es/publicaciones/46452-sistemas-informacionsocial-registros-destinatarios-la-proteccion-social
- Better than Cash Alliance (n.d.) 'The UN Principles for Responsible Digital Payments'. https:// responsiblepayments.org/
- Better than Cash Alliance (2021) 'Improving Humanitarian Payments Through Digital Innovation: Challenges and Opportunities'. https://www.betterthancash.org/alliancereports/improving-humanitarian-payments-through-digital-innovation-challenges-andopportunities?utm\_campaign=Humanitarian+Innovation&utm\_source=twitter&utm\_ medium=Twiiter&utm\_content=on\_worldhumanitarianday,\_
- Birhane. A. (2020) 'Algorithmic Colonization of Africa'. ScriptEd. Volume 17, Issue 2, August 2020. https://script-ed.org/article/algorithmic-colonization-of-africa/

- Botea, I., A. Coudouel, A. Heinemann, S. Kuttner (2021) Safety First: How to Leverage Social Safety Nets to Prevent Gender Based Violence. Washington, DC: World Bank. https:// openknowledge.worldbank.org/handle/10986/35641
- Carswell, G. and G. De Neve (2021) 'Transparency, exclusion and mediation: how digital and biometric technologies are transforming social protection in Tamil Nadu, India'. Oxford Development Studies. Volume 50, 2022: Issue 2. https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.10 80/13600818.2021.1904866?journalCode=cods20&
- CGAP (2020). 'Rapid Account Opening in a Pandemic'. https://www.cgap.org/research/covid-19-briefing/rapid-account-opening-pandemic
- CHRGJ, ISER and Unwanted Witness (2021) 'Chased Away and Left to Die' https://www. unwantedwitness.org/chased-away-and-left-to-die-new-human-rights-report-finds-thatugandas-national-digital-id-system-leads-to-mass-exclusion/
- Chaudhuri, B. (2019) 'Paradoxes of intermediation in Aadhaar: Human making of a digital infrastructure'. South Asia: Journal of South Asia Studies. Volume 42, 2019: Issue 3. https:// www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/00856401.2019.1598671?journalCode=csas20
- Chaudhuri, B. (2020). 'Distant, opaque ad seamful: Seeing the state through the workings of Aadhaar in India'. *Information Technology for Development*. Volume 27: Issue 1 https://www. tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/02681102.2020.1789037
- Chirchir, R. and V. Barca (2020) Building an integrated and digital social protection information system. GIZ/DFID. https://socialprotection.org/sites/default/files/publications\_ files/GIZ\_DFID\_IIMS%20in%20social%20protection\_long\_02-2020.pdf
- Cho, Y., J. Avalos Y. Kawasoe et al. (2021) 'Mitigating the impact of COVID-19 on the welfare of low income households in the Philippines: the role of social protection'. AusAID and World Bank. https://reliefweb.int/report/philippines/mitigating-impact-covid-19-welfare-lowincome-households-philippines-role-social
- Cruz, K. A., Fernandez, M. I., Glynn-Broderick, K., Liang, Y.. Rouse, R., Sampaco-Baddiri, N. (2022) 'From Digital G2P Payments to Greater Financial Inclusion—Latest Findings from the Philippines'. https://www.poverty-action.org/blog/digital-g2p-payments-greaterfinancial-inclusion%E2%80%94latest-findings-philippines
- Dalberg (2020) 'The efficacy of government entitlements in helping BPL families navigate the financial impacts of Covid-19'. April 2020. https://www.indiaspend.com/wp-content/ uploads/2020/04/14-April\_Executive-Summary\_DEA-Meeting\_vFINAL\_HG.pdf
- De Miranda, C., C. Heisecke, M. Royg (2021) 'Social Protection Goes Digital: Lessons From an Innovative, WhatsApp-Driven Outreach Campaign in Paraguay'. https://nextbillion.net/ social-protection-digital-innovative-whatsapp-paraguay/
- DIAL (n.d.) 'Principles for Digital Development'. https://digitalimpactalliance.org/digitalprinciples/
- Diaz, M. and J. Venturini (2021) 'Identity systems and social protection in Venezuela and Bolivia: Surveillance, gender and human rights'. https://privacyinternational.org/newsanalysis/4478/derechos-digitales-publish-report-id-systems-and-social-protectionvenezuela-and

- Digital Convergence Initiative (2022) 'Digital Convergence USP 2030: Resources'. https://spconvergence.org/resources/
- **Dokovic, Z.** (2021) 'Technical Brief: Building resilient civil registration and vital statistics systems amid COVID-19: Namibia as a good practice'. https://socialprotection.org/discover/ publications/technical-brief-building-resilient-civil-registration-and-vital-statistics
- Dreze, J. and A. Somanchi (2021) 'The Covid-19 crisis and food security'. https://www. ideasforindia.in/topics/poverty-inequality/the-covid-19-crisis-and-food-security.html
- Drèze, J., N. Khalid, R. Khera and A.Somanchi (2017), 'Aadhaar and food security in Jharkhand: Pain without gain?', Economic and Political Weekly, 52, 50, 2017, https://www. epw.in/journal/2017/50/special-articles/aadhaar-and-food-security-jharkhand.html
- Dreze, J. and R. Khera (2020) 'Getting cash transfers out of a JAM'. https://www.thehindu. com/opinion/lead/getting-cash-transfers-out-of-a-jam/article31568674.ece
- Enabling Digital, GIZ and SPIAC-B (2020) 'Data Protection for Social Protection'. https:// enabling-digital.eu/liable-but-not-in-control-ensuring-meaningful-human-agency-inautomated-decision-making-systems/
- **ESCAP** (2021) 'Facilitating COVID responses: Rao Mai Ting Gun (No One Left Behind) scheme. Social Protection Toolbox'. https://www.socialprotection-toolbox.org/practice/facilitatingcovid-responses-rao-mai-ting-gun-no-one-left-behind-scheme
- Eubanks, V. (2018) Automating inequality: how high-tech tools profile, police, and punish the poor. New York: St. Martin's Press.
- Feathers, T. (2021) 'Facial Recognition Failures Are Locking People Out of Unemployment Systems'. https://www.vice.com/en/article/5dbywn/facial-recognition-failures-are-lockingpeople-out-of-unemployment-systems
- Fragoso, N. and M. Valente (2021) 'I don't see you, but you see me: asymmetric visibility in Brazil's Bolsa Família Program'. https://chrgj.org/2021/05/03/i-dont-see-you-but-you-seeme-asymmetric-visibility-in-brazils-bolsa-familia-program/
- Gelb, A., A. Mukherjee, K. Navis, M. Akter, and J. Naima (2019) 'Primary Education Stipends in Bangladesh: Do Mothers Prefer Digital Payments over Cash?' https://www.cgdev.org/ publication/primary-education-stipends-bangladesh-do-mothers-prefer-digital-paymentsover-cash
- Gelb, A. and C. Decker (2012). 'Cash at your fingertips: biometric technology for transfers in developing countries'. Review of Policy Research, 29(1), 91-117. https://onlinelibrary.wiley. com/doi/abs/10.1111/j.1541-1338.2011.00539.x
- Gelb, A. and A. Diofasi Metz (2017) 'Identification Revolution: Can Digital ID Be Harnessed for Development?' Washington DC: CGD. https://www.cgdev.org/publication/identificationrevolution-can-digital-id-be-harnessed-development-brief
- Gelb, A., A. Mukherjee and K. Navis (2018). 'Digital Governance in Developing Countries: Beneficiary Experience and Perceptions of System Reform in Rajasthan, India'. Washington DC: CGD. https://www.cgdev.org/publication/digital-governance-developing-countriesbeneficiary-experience-and-perceptions-system

- Gelb, A. and A. Mukherjee (2019). 'Building on Digital ID for Inclusive Services: Lessons from India'. Washington DC: CGD. https://www.cgdev.org/publication/building-digital-id-inclusiveservices-lessons-india#:~:text=Digital%20ID%20as%20a%20development,Aadhaar%20 number%20into%20program%20databases.
- Gelb, A. and A. Mukherjee (2020) 'Digital Technology in Social Assistance Transfers for COVID-19 Relief: Lessons from Selected Cases'. Washington DC: CGD. https://www.cgdev. org/publication/digital-technology-social-assistance-transfers-covid-19-relief-lessonsselected-cases
- Gelb, A., A. Mukherjee and K. Navis (2020). Citizens and States: How Can Digital ID and Payments Improve State Capacity and Effectiveness? Washington DC: CGD. https://www. cgdev.org/publication/citizens-and-states-how-can-digital-id-and-payments-improve-statecapacity
- Gelb, A., A. Giri, A. Mukherjee, K. Shukla, M. Thapliyal, and B. Webster (2021). 'Social Assistance and Information in the Initial Phase of the COVID-19 Crisis: Lessons from a Household Survey in India'. Washington DC: CGD. https://www.cgdev.org/publication/ social-assistance-and-information-initial-phase-covid-19-crisis-lessons-household-survey
- **Gentilini, U. et al.** (2020) Social Protection and Jobs Responses to Covid-19: A Real-Time Review of Country Measures. Living Paper Version 13. Washington DC: World Bank https:// openknowledge.worldbank.org/handle/10986/33635
- Ghosh, S. (2021) 'On the Question of Access to Welfare and Health for Women During the Initial Phase of the Pandemic'. https://www.epw.in/engage/article/question-access-welfareand-health-women-during
- GIZ (2021) 'Towards a shared understanding of digital social protection: What are the lessons from the COVID-19 crisis and the implications for the future? Report from a regional workshop in Africa'. https://socialprotection.org/discover/publications/report-regionalworkshop-africa-towards-shared-understanding-digital-social
- Goodman, R., E. Schoemaker, C. Messenger, and R. Steller (2021) 'Review and Analysis of Identification and Registration Systems in Protracted and Recurrent Crisis'. https://www. cariboudigital.net/2020/07/review-and-analysis-of-identification-and-registration-systemsin-protracted-and-recurrent-crisis/
- **Greene, D.** (2020) The Promise of Access: Technology, Inequality, and the Political Economy of Hope. Massachussetts: MIT. https://mitpress.mit.edu/books/promise-access
- **Gronbach, L.** (2020) 'Social Cash Transfer Payment Systems in sub-Saharan Africa'. http://  $www.cssr.uct.ac.za/sites/default/files/image\_tool/images/256/Publications/WP452Gronbach.\\$ pdf
- Gronbach, L., J. Seekings, V. Megannon (2022) 'Social Protection in the COVID-19 Pandemic: Lessons from South Africa'. Washington, DC: CGD. https://www.cgdev.org/ publication/social-protection-covid-19-pandemic-lessons-south-africa
- GSMA (2020a) 'Digital Identity: Accelerating Financial Inclusion During a Crisis'. https:// www.gsma.com/mobilefordevelopment/resources/digital-identity-accelerating-financialinclusion-during-a-crisis/

- GSMA (2020b). 'The State of Mobile Internet Connectivity 2020'. https://www.gsma.com/r/wpcontent/uploads/2020/09/GSMA-State-of-Mobile-Internet-Connectivity-Report-2020.pdf
- **GSMA** (2021). 'State of the Industry Report on Mobile Money 2021'. https://www.gsma.com/ mobilefordevelopment/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/GSMA\_State-of-the-Industry-Reporton-Mobile-Money-2021\_Full-report.pdf
- **Gupta, A.** (2020) 'Agent Fraud in Welfare Transfers: A Case Study in Exclusion'. https://www. dvara.com/research/blog/2020/09/01/agent-fraud-in-welfare-transfers-a-case-study-inexclusion/
- Gupta, A. (2021) 'Proposing a Framework to Document Exclusion in Direct Benefit Transfers'. https://www.dvara.com/research/blog/2021/02/11/proposing-a-framework-to-documentexclusion-in-direct-benefit-transfers/
- Guven, M. (2019) 'Extending Pension Coverage to the Informal Sector in Africa'. World Bank Social Protection & Jobs Discussion Paper, no. 1933. Washington DC: World Bank Group https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/handle/10986/32179
- Hall, L. and Z. Neuberger (2021) 'Eligible Low-Income Children Missing Out on Crucial WIC Benefits During Pandemic'. https://www.cbpp.org/research/food-assistance/eligible-lowincome-children-missing-out-on-crucial-wic-benefits-during
- Hare, A. and N. Parekh (2020) 'Should government payments be digitized?' https://www. povertyactionlab.org/blog/10-13-20/should-government-payments-be-digitized
- Hayes de Kalaf, E. (2021) 'How some countries are using digital ID to exclude vulnerable people around the world'. https://theconversation.com/how-some-countries-areusing-digital-id-to-exclude-vulnerable-people-around-the-world-164879?utm\_ medium=ampwhatsapp&utm\_source=whatsapp
- Hebbar, M., S. Satriana, and J. Ammoun (2021) Using Social Protection to respond to the COVID-19 pandemic in Indonesia. UK: DAI Global UK Ltd.
- Henley, J. and R. Booth (2020) 'Welfare surveillance system violates human rights, Dutch court rules'. https://www.theguardian.com/technology/2020/feb/05/welfare-surveillancesystem-violates-human-rights-dutch-court-rules
- Holloway, K. and O. Lough (2021) 'Although shocking, the Rohingya biometrics scandal is not surprising and could have been prevented'. https://odi.org/en/insights/although-shockingthe-rohingya-biometrics-scandal-is-not-surprising-and-could-have-been-prevented/
- Holtzblatt, J. and M. Karpman (2020) Who Did Not Get the Economic Impact Payments by Mid-to-Late May, and Why? Washington, DC: Urban Institute. https://heavy.com/wpcontent/uploads/2020/07/who-did-not-get-the-economic-impact-payments-by-mid-tolate-may-and-why.pdf
- Hosein, G., and E. A. Whitley (2019). 'Identity and development: Questioning Aadhaar's digital credentials'. In R. Khera (Ed.), Dissent on Aadhaar: Big date meets big brother (pp. 220-234). New Delhi: Orient Blackswan.
- HRW (Human Rights Watch) (2021) 'UN Shared Rohingya Data Without Informed Consent'. https://www.hrw.org/news/2021/06/15/un-shared-rohingya-data-without-informed-consent
- ICRC and VUB (2020) Handbook on Data Protection in Humanitarian Action. Geneva: ICRC. https://shop.icrc.org/download/ebook?sku=4305.01/002-ebook

- **ID4D** (n.d.) 'Principles On Identification For Sustainable Development: Toward The Digital Age'. https://id4d.worldbank.org/principles#:~:text=Identification%20systems%20must%20 be%2ounderpinned,violation%2oof%2odue%2oprocess%3B%2oare
- Ivanova, I. (2020). 'Debt collectors are going after Americans' stimulus checks—and the CARES Act allows it'. https://www.cbsnews.com/news/stimulus-checks-debt-collectorscares-act/
- IPC-IG (2021). 'Social protection responses to Covid-19 in the Global South: Online Dashboard'. https://app.powerbi.com/view?r=eyJrljoiMmExZDFmYzUtMmIwYyooZDMwLW I5ZDYtOTFhMGQ1NzcxYTdiliwidCl6ljRkYWE1ZWQ3LWYzNDAtNDE2NS1iNzQwLThjYTcxZT diYmQzNilsImMiOjl9&pageName=ReportSection10b5b78ce6e3ed6d4481
- ISSA (2019) 'Applying emerging technologies in social security: Summary report 2017-2019'. https://www.sap.com/docs/download/2020/06/c87c28a2-9a7d-0010-87a3-c30de2ffd8ff.pdf
- Jack, W. and T. Suri (2014) 'Risk Sharing and Transactions Costs: Evidence from Kenya's Mobile Money Revolution'. American Economic Review, 104 (1): 183-223. https://www. aeaweb.org/articles?id=10.1257/aer.104.1.183
- Kitchin, R. (2020) 'Civil liberties or public health, or civil liberties and public health? Using surveillance technologies to tackle the spread of COVID-19'. Space and Polity, Vol 24, Issue 3. https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/13562576.2020.1770587
- Klapper, L., and D. Singer (2017) 'The Opportunities and Challenges of Digitizing Government-to-Person Payments.' The World Bank Research Observer, Vol 32 (2): 211–26. https://doi.org/10.1093/wbro/lkx003
- **Kwet, M.** (2019) Digital colonialism: US empire and the new imperialism in the Global South. Race & Class, Vol 60, Issue 4: 3-26. https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/abs/10.1177/0306396818 823172?journalCode=racb
- Lavinas, L. (2017) The Takeover of Social Policy by Financialization: The Brazilian Paradox. New York: Palgrave Macmillan. https://link.springer.com/book/10.1057/978-1-137-49107-7
- Lindert, K., T. George Karippacheril, I. Rodriguez Caillava, and K. Nishikawa Chavez (2020). Sourcebook on the Foundations of Social Protection Delivery Systems. Washington, DC: World Bank. https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/handle/10986/34044
- Londoño-Vélez and Querubin (2020) 'The Impact of Emergency Cash Assistance in a Pandemic: Experimental Evidence from Colombia'. https://www.poverty-action.org/ publication/impact-emergency-cash-assistance-pandemic-experimental-evidencecolombia
- López, J. (2021) 'The case of the Solidarity Income in Colombia: the experimentation with data on social policy during the pandemic'. https://web.karisma.org.co/the-case-of-the-solidarityincome-in-colombia-the-experimentation-with-data-on-social-policy-during-the-pandemic/
- Lowe, C., A. McCord and R. Beazley (2021) 'National cash transfer responses to Covid-19: Operational lessons learned for social protection system-strengthening and future shocks'. London: ODI. https://odi.org/en/publications/national-cash-transfer-responses-to-covid-19-operational-lessons-learned-for-social-protection-system-strengthening-and-futureshocks/

- Lustig, N. and M. Trasberg (2021) 'How Brazil and Mexico Diverged on Social Protection in the Pandemic'. Current History (2021) 120 (823): 57-63. https://online.ucpress.edu/ currenthistory/article/120/823/57/115913/How-Brazil-and-Mexico-Diverged-on-Social
- Madianou, M. (2021) 'Nonhuman humanitarianism: when 'Al for good' can be harmful'. Information, Communication & Society. Vol 24, Issue 6. https://www.tandfonline.com/ eprint/TDGDSCUIPFVKRMKCYF5P/full?target=10.1080/1369118X.2021.1909100
- Madianou, M. (2020) 'Second-Order Disaster? Digital Technologies During the COVID-19 Pandemic'. Social Media & Society. Vol 6, Issue 3. https://journals.sagepub.com/ doi/10.1177/2056305120948168
- Madianou, M. (2019). 'Technocolonialism: Digital innovation and data practices in the humanitarian response to refugee crises'. Social Media & Society, 5(3), 1–13. https://doi. org/10.1177/2056305119863146
- Malaza, T. and N. Parekh (2020) 'The leaky bucket: Can digitization of social welfare programs reduce leakages?' https://www.povertyactionlab.org/blog/11-3-20/leaky-bucketcan-digitization-social-welfare-programs-reduce-leakages
- Masiero, S. (2020) 'COVID-19: What does it mean for digital social protection?' Big Data and Society. Volume 7, Issue 2. https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/full/10.1177/2053951720978995
- Masiero, S. (2021) Beyond Touchscreens: The Perils of Biometric Social Welfare in Lockdown. In Milan et al. (2021) Covid-19 from the Margins. https://networkcultures.org/blog/ publication/covid-19-from-the-margins-pandemic-invisibilities-policies-and-resistance-inthe-datafied-society/
- McCormick, E. (2021) 'What happened when a 'wildly irrational' algorithm made crucial healthcare decisions'. https://www.theguardian.com/us-news/2021/jul/02/algorithm-crucialhealthcare-decisions
- Merelli, A. (2021) 'Covid has spurred a digital cash revolution in developing countries'. https:// qz.com/africa/2058395/covid-spurred-digital-cash-transfer-adoption-in-poor-countries/
- Michaels, L. (2020) 'Rapid Response for Social Payments During COVID-19'. https://www. centerforfinancialinclusion.org/rapid-response-for-social-payments-during-covid-19
- Morozov, E. (2013). To save everything, Click here: Technology, solutionism, and the Urge to Fix Problems that Don't exist. Penguin, UK.
- Muralidharan, K., P.Niehaus, and S. Sukhtankar (2016) 'Building State Capacity: Evidence from Biometric Smartcards in India.' American Economic Review, 106 (10): 2895-2929. https://www.aeaweb.org/articles?id=10.1257/aer.20141346
- Muralidharan, K., P.Niehaus, and S. Sukhtankar, and J. Weaver (2019) 'Improving Last-Mile Service Delivery Using Phone-Based Monitoring'. http://www.nber.org/papers/w25298
- National Law University Delhi (2019) 'Response To Call For Submissions On Digital Technology, Social Protection And Human Rights'. https://www.ohchr.org/Documents/ Issues/Poverty/DigitalTechnology/NationalLawUniversityDelhi.pdf
- National Audit Office (2018) 'Rolling out Universal Credit'. https://www.nao.org.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2018/06/Rolling-out-Universal-Credit.pdf
- National Coalition of Civil Society Organizations (2020) 'Exploring Cash Transfer to Jan Dhan Accounts as COVID-19 Response: Findings from A Rapid Survey (28 April

- to 12 May 2020) for Assessing the Ground Reality'. https://www.oxfamindia.org/sites/default/files/2020-06/Rapid%20Survey-Cash%20Transfer%20to%20Jan%20Dhan%20Account%20Holders-Report-26%20May%20202....pdf
- **Newlands, G., C. Lutz, and A. Tamo-Larrieux et al.** (2020) 'Innovation under pressure: Implications for data privacy during the Covid-19 pandemic'. *Big Data and Society.* Vol 7(2). https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/full/10.1177/2053951720976680
- **Nishtar, S.** (2021) 'Tackling poverty amidst COVID-19: How Pakistan's emergency cash programme averted an economic catastrophe'. In Bilo et al. (2021) https://ipcig.org/publication/30008?language\_content\_entity=en
- **Nyabola, N.** (2021) 'National digital ID initiatives have a trust problem'. https://restofworld. org/2021/kenya-digital-id/
- **O'Donnell, M., M. Buvinic, S. Bourgault, and B. Webster** (2021) 'The Gendered Dimensions of Social Protection in the COVID-19 Context'. https://www.cgdev.org/sites/default/files/gender-social-protection-during-covid.pdf
- **OHCHR** (2021) 'The right to privacy in the digital age'. https://www.ohchr.org/EN/HRBodies/HRC/RegularSessions/Session48/Documents/A\_HRC\_48\_31\_AdvanceEditedVersion.docx
- **Ohlenburg, T.** (2020) 'Al in social protection exploring opportunities and mitigating risks'. ADB and GIZ. www.adb.org/publications/ai-social-protection-exploring-opportunities-mitigating-risks
- **Pabon, L.** (2021) 'Colombia's experience in addressing the COVID-19 crisis'. In Bilo et al. (2021) https://ipcig.org/publication/30008?language\_content\_entity=en E/
- Pande, R., S. Schaner, C. Troyer Moore, E. Stacy (2020) 'A Majority of India's Poor Women May Miss COVID-19 PMJDY Cash Transfers'. https://egc.yale.edu/sites/default/files/COVID%20Brief.pdf
- **Palacio Ludena, M. G.** (2021) 'Falling through the Cracks: Digital Infrastructures of Social Protection in Ecuador'. *Development and Change*. Vol 52, Issue 4. https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1111/dech.12664
- **Palacios, R.** (2020) 'Scaling up social assistance payments as part of the Covid-19 pandemic response'. https://pubdocs.worldbank.org/en/655201595885830480/WB-G2Px-Scaling-up-Social-Assistance-Payments-as-Part-of-the-Covid-19-Pandemic-Response.pdf
- **Pande, R., S. Schaner, C. Troyer Moore, and E. Stacy** (2020). 'Reaching India's poorest women with Covid-19 relief'. https://egc.yale.edu/reaching-indias-poorest-women-covid-19-relief
- **Panda, S.** (2021). 'Data Systems in Welfare: Impact of the JAM Trinity on Pension & PDS in Odisha during COVID-19'. https://cis-india.org/raw/sameet-panda-impact-of-the-jam-trinity-on-pension-pds-in-odisha-during-covid-19
- **Pandey, P.** (2018) 'Jharkhand: Pilot project for Direct Benefit Transfer withdrawn 10 months after launch'. https://indianexpress.com/article/india/jharkhand-pilot-project-for-direct-benefit-transfer-withdrawn-10-months-after-launch-5299959/
- **Parsheera, S.** (2020) 'Participation of Persons With Disabilities in India's Aadhaar Projec't. https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract\_id=3700984

- Payne, R. (2020) 'Five Reasons Women in Solomon Islands and Papua New Guinea are Financially Excluded'. https://www.uncdf.org/article/5804/five-reasons-women-in-solomonislands-and-papua-new-guinea-are-financially-excluded
- Peterman, A., N. Kumar, A. Pereira, and D. Gilligan (2020). 'Towards gender equality in social protection: Evidence gaps and priority research questions'. https://www.ifpri.org/ publication/towards-gender-equality-social-protection-evidence-gaps-and-priorityresearch-questions
- Pickens, M., D. Porteous, and S. Rotman (2009). 'Banking the poor via G2P payments'. CGAP Focus Note No. 58. https://www.cgap.org/research/publication/banking-poor-g2p-payments
- Privacy International (2019) 'Privacy International's Submission on Digital Technology, Social Protection and Human Rights'. https://privacyinternational.org/sites/default/files/2019-07/ PI%20submissions%20to%20UNSR%20Extreme%20Poverty\_May%202019.pdf
- Privacy International (2020) 'Benefitting whom? An overview of companies profiting from "digital welfare" https://privacyinternational.org/long-read/4144/benefitting-whomoverview-companies-profiting-digital-welfare
- Privacy International (2021) 'Exclusion by design: how national ID systems make social protection inaccessible to vulnerable populations'. https://privacyinternational.org/longread/4472/exclusion-design-how-national-id-systems-make-social-protection-inaccessible
- RCRC (2020) 'Rapid Assessment Survey of Cash Transfer to Women Jan Dhan Account Holders'. https://www.rcrc.in/wp-content/uploads/2020/06/Jan-Dhan-DBT-Status-Report\_ RCRC.pdf
- **Rizzi, A.** (2022). Responsible social protection: lessons from Covid-19 digital cash transfers. Center for Financial Inclusion. https://www.centerforfinancialinclusion.org/responsiblesocial-protection-lessons-from-covid-19-digital-cash-transfers
- Roberts, S. L. (2019). 'Big data, algorithmic governmentality and the regulation of pandemic risk'. European Journal of Risk Regulation, 10(1),94-115. https://doi.org/10.1017/err.2019.6
- Rocha Menocal, A., E. Laws, J. Pett and E. Proud (2021) 'Learn Adapt: lessons from three years of adaptive management'. https://odi.org/en/insights/learnadapt-lessons-from-threeyears-of-adaptive-management/
- Roelen, K. and B. Carter (2022) 'Social Assistance in Response to Covid-19: Reaching the Furthest Behind First?' https://www.ids.ac.uk/publications/social-assistance-in-response-tocovid-19-reaching-the-furthest-behind-first/
- Roelen, K., E. Archibald and C. Lowe (2021) 'Covid-19: crisis as opportunity for urban cash transfers?' London: ODI. https://odi.org/en/publications/covid-19-crisis-as-opportunity-forurban-cash-transfer/
- Rubio, Al. (2018) 'Aanvragen bijstand bij gemeente expres lastig' [Very difficult to request benefits from the municipality]. Algemeen Dagblad, 11 April. https://www.ad.nl/rotterdam/ aanvragen-bijstand-bij-gemeente-expres-lastig~a62e30aa/
- Sepúlveda Carmona, M. (2018). 'Is Biometric Technology in Social Protection Programmes Illegal or Arbitrary? An Analysis of Privacy and Data Protection'. https://www.ilo.org/ wcmsp5/groups/public/---ed\_protect/---soc\_sec/documents/publication/wcms\_631504.pdf

- **Shepherd-Barron, J.** (2020) 'Time to Protect Cash'. https://www.aidessentials.org/2020/04/17/ time-to-protect-cash/#\_ftn1
- Shonchoy, A. S., N. Rigol, B. Roth, S. Chandra, A. P. Franco, and R. Hussam (2021) 'Safety Nets and the Pandemic: The State of Social Benefit Payments during COVID-19 in Bangladesh'. https://www.poverty-action.org/recovr-study/safety-nets-and-pandemic-state-social-benefit-payments-during-covid-19-bangladesh
- **Singh, H., A. P. Janani, B. Chaudhuri** (2020) 'A Conundrum of Efficiency And Inclusion: Aadhaar and Fair Price Shops'. https://www.epw.in/engage/article/conundrum-efficiency-and-inclusion-aadhaar-and
- **Somanchi, A.** (2020) 'Covid-19 relief: Are women Jan Dhan accounts the right choice for cash transfers?' https://www.ideasforindia.in/topics/poverty-inequality/covid-19-relief-are-women-jan-dhan-accounts-the-right-choice-for-cash-transfers.html
- **Taylor, L** (2020) he price of certainty: How the politics of pandemic data demand an ethics of car. *Big Data & Society* 7(2):1–7.
- **Toh, A.** (2019) 'The disastrous roll-out of the UK's digital welfare system is harming those most in need'. https://www.hrw.org/news/2019/06/10/disastrous-roll-out-uks-digital-welfare-system-harming-those-most-need
- **Totapally, S., P. Sonderegger, P. Rao, G. Gupta** (2020) 'Efficacy of government entitlements for low-income families during Covid-19: Findings from a study of 47,000 low-income households across India conducted between April 5, 2020 and June 3, 2020'. https://impactsofcovid.in/assets/front\_assets/download/20.07.27\_Efficacy%20of%20 government%20entitlements%20for%20low-income%20families%20during%20Covid-19. pdf
- **Toyama, K.** (2011) 'Technology as amplifier in international development'. https://www.scinapse.io/papers/1984997401#cited
- **USAID and FHE** (Food for the Hungry Ethiopia) (2018) 'Mobile Cash Transfer Pilot for PSNP clients in Lay Gayint and Tach Gayint Woredas of Amhara Region, Ethiopia'. https://reliefweb.int/report/ethiopia/mobile-cash-transfer-pilot-psnp-clients-lay-gayint-and-tach-gayint-woredas-amhara
- **UN** (2019) 'Report of the Special rapporteur on extreme poverty and human rights: Digital Welfare States and Human Rights'. https://digitallibrary.un.org/record/798707?ln=en
- **UN** (2021) 'Leveraging digital technologies for social inclusion'. https://www.un.org/development/desa/dspd/2021/02/digital-technologies-for-social-inclusion/
- **Unwanted Witness** (2019) 'Preliminary Report. Uganda's Digital ID System: A cocktail of Discrimination'. https://www.unwantedwitness.org/download/uploads/UgandaE28099s-Digital-ID-System.pdf
- van Zoonen, L. (2020) 'Data governance and citizen participation in the digital welfare state'. Data and Policy. Volume 2. https://doi.org/10.1017/dap.2020.10
- **Weber, M.** (2020). 'Digital public works a viable policy option for the COVID-19 (Coronavirus) jobs crisis?' https://www.jobsanddevelopment.org/digital-public-works-a-viable-policy-option-for-the-covid-19-coronavirus-jobs-crisis/

- **WIEGO** (2020) 'The role of digital technology in COVID social protection responses'. https://www.wiego.org/sites/default/files/resources/file/05\_Social\_Protection\_Responses\_to\_Covid-19\_ENG.pdf
- **WIEGO** (2021) 'COVID-19 Crisis and the Informal Economy: Informal Workers in Bangkok, Thailand. https://www.wiego.org/publications/covid-19-crisis-and-informal-economy-informal-workers-bangkok-thailand
- World Bank (2019) World Development Report 2019: The Changing Nature of Work. Washington, DC: World Bank. https://www.worldbank.org/en/publication/wdr2019
- **World Bank** (2020) *Artificial Intelligence in the Public Sector : Maximizing Opportunities, Managing Risks.* Washington, DC: World Bank. https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/handle/10986/35317
- Wright, R., E. Tekin, V. Topalli, C. McClellan, T. Dickinson, and R. Rosenfeld (2014). 'Less Cash, Less Crime: Evidence from the Electronic Benefit Transfer Program'. https://www.nber.org/papers/w19996
- **Zimmerman, J. and M. May, E. Kellison and J. Klugman** (2020) 'Digital Cash Transfers in Times of COVID-19: Opportunities and Considerations for Women's Inclusion and Empowerment'. https://g2p-network.org/digital-cash-transfers-in-times-of-covid-19-opportunities-and-considerations-for-womens-inclusion-and-empowerment/
- Yamasaki, N. and Rodopoulos, F. (2021) 'Emergency Aid: The Brazilian response to an unprecedented challenge'. In Bilo et al. (2021) What's next for social protection in light of COVID-19: country responses https://ipcig.org/publication/30008?language\_content\_entity=en